# Alumni/University Calendar

## November

<table>
<thead>
<tr>
<th>Date</th>
<th>Event Description</th>
</tr>
</thead>
<tbody>
<tr>
<td>28</td>
<td><strong>GROUP RELATIONS LECTURE</strong>&lt;br&gt;Clarence Senior, &quot;The Puerto Rican in the United States.&quot;&lt;br&gt;Strong Auditorium, 8:00 P. M.</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>30</td>
<td><strong>ALUMNI GYM NITE</strong>&lt;br&gt;Alumni Gymnasium, River Campus, 7:00—9:00 P. M. Open to Alumni and their sons.</td>
</tr>
</tbody>
</table>

## December

<table>
<thead>
<tr>
<th>Date</th>
<th>Event Description</th>
</tr>
</thead>
<tbody>
<tr>
<td>2-3</td>
<td><strong>STAGERS</strong>&lt;br&gt;&quot;In My Father's House.&quot;&lt;br&gt;by Ens. Kenneth Cameron, USNR.&lt;br&gt;Strong Auditorium, 8:00 P. M. Admission charge.</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>3</td>
<td><strong>VARSITY BASKETBALL</strong>&lt;br&gt;Utica College at Utica.&lt;br&gt;VARSITY SWIMMING, Buffalo State, 3:00 P. M.</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>4</td>
<td><strong>ANNUAL CHRISTMAS BUFFET AND GLEE CLUB CONCERT</strong>&lt;br&gt;Men's Dining Hall, River Campus, 6:30 P. M.&lt;br&gt;Strong Auditorium, 8:00 P. M. Alumni, their husbands and wives and guests, by reservation.&lt;br&gt;RECEPTION, NURSING ALUMNAE, Helen Wood Hall, 11:30 P. M.</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>5</td>
<td><strong>GROUP RELATIONS LECTURE</strong>&lt;br&gt;Joseph B. Gittler, &quot;Understanding Minority Groups.&quot;&lt;br&gt;Strong Auditorium, 8:00 P. M.</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>6</td>
<td><strong>ROCHESTER CLUB OF PHILADELPHIA</strong>&lt;br&gt;luncheon at Kugler's Restaurant, 1319 Chestnut Street, Philadelphia.&lt;br&gt;ROCHESTER CLUB OF GREATER NEW YORK, dinner meeting, Columbia University Club, 6:30 P. M.&lt;br&gt;Dean Margaret Habein, speaker: music by Eastman Alumni.</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>7</td>
<td><strong>ALUMNI GYM NITE</strong>&lt;br&gt;Alumni Gymnasium, River Campus, 7:00—9:00 P. M. Open to Alumni and their sons.</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>10</td>
<td><strong>ALUMNIAE SEMINAR</strong>&lt;br&gt;group discussion summarizing program of &quot;Institute on Minority Groups in the United States.&quot;&lt;br&gt;Mrs. Joseph Gittler, discussion leader, Faculty Club, 8:00 P. M. Alumni and their guests.</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>14</td>
<td><strong>ALUMNI GYM NITE</strong>&lt;br&gt;Alumni Gymnasium, River Campus, 7:00—9:00 P. M. Open to Alumni and their sons.</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>15</td>
<td><strong>VARSITY SWIMMING</strong>&lt;br&gt;Alleghey, 4:00 P. M.</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>17</td>
<td><strong>VARSITY BASKETBALL</strong>&lt;br&gt;St. Lawrence, Palestra, 8:30 P. M.</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>21</td>
<td><strong>ALUMNI GYM NITE</strong>&lt;br&gt;Alumni Gymnasium, River Campus, 7:00—9:00 P. M. Open to Alumni and their sons.</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>25</td>
<td><strong>ALUMNI GYM NITE</strong>&lt;br&gt;Alumni Gymnasium, River Campus, 7:00—9:00 P. M. Open to Alumni and their sons.</td>
</tr>
</tbody>
</table>

## January

<table>
<thead>
<tr>
<th>Date</th>
<th>Event Description</th>
</tr>
</thead>
<tbody>
<tr>
<td>4</td>
<td><strong>ALUMNI GYM NITE</strong>&lt;br&gt;Alumni Gymnasium, River Campus, 7:00—9:00 P. M. Open to Alumni and their sons.</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>7</td>
<td><strong>VARSITY BASKETBALL</strong>&lt;br&gt;Alfred, Palestra, 8:30 P. M.</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>10</td>
<td><strong>(Tentative date)</strong>&lt;br&gt;ALUMNIAE CLASS OFFICERS meeting for all officers and Alumnae Association Board, Women's Residence Halls, 8:00 P. M.</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>11</td>
<td><strong>ALUMNI GYM NITE</strong>&lt;br&gt;Alumni Gymnasium, River Campus, 7:00—9:00 P. M. Open to Alumni and their sons.</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>13</td>
<td><strong>VARSITY BASKETBALL</strong>&lt;br&gt;Union at Schenectady.</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>14</td>
<td><strong>VARSITY SWIMMING</strong>&lt;br&gt;Union, 3:00 P. M. &lt;br&gt;<strong>VARSITY BASKETBALL</strong>&lt;br&gt;R. P. I., at Troy.</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>18</td>
<td><strong>ALUMNI GYM NITE</strong>&lt;br&gt;Alumni Gymnasium, River Campus, 7:00—9:00 P. M. Open to Alumni and their sons.</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>25</td>
<td><strong>ALUMNI GYM NITE</strong>&lt;br&gt;Alumni Gymnasium, River Campus, 7:00—9:00 P. M. Open to Alumni and their sons.</td>
</tr>
</tbody>
</table>

---

**On the Cover**<br>Beverly Stark and Charles VanDeMar are members of the record-size freshman class that inaugurated coeducation at the River Campus.
A Message from the President:

The scene along the Genesee this fall, the year of the merger, is one of bustling activity. There is a constant flow of students to and from classroom buildings, the Rush Rhees Library, the men’s and women’s residence halls, and the student activities building, and everywhere is a sense of excitement, of achievement, of mission accomplished. For the merger of the Men’s and Women’s Colleges, after so much planning and effort, is now a fact. A strengthened coeducational college and a new and more integrated complex of educational and administrative activities on the River Campus have launched the University on a new period of development.

Too much praise cannot be given to those members of the University family who worked so hard to make the merger possible. Trustees, Alumni, Administration, Faculty, staff, and students all had significant roles to play and—met every demand on them in the most heart-warming fashion. To single any individuals out for special mention is perhaps to do injustice to the others and the University owes a debt of gratitude to all.

The Trustees saw the possibilities of the merger and approved all the steps necessary to make it a reality. Alumni grasped its significance and contributed generously to the costs involved. Faculty helped with the planning and cheerfully bore all the interruptions to their work entailed in abandoning one campus and concentrating their activities on another. Heavy burdens fell on members of the University and College administrations which were taken in stride while normal operations continued. Students, too, played their part not only in planning for the new college but by helping in many phases of the actual move. And, finally, the industries of Rochester and the public generally realized the importance of what was being attempted and by their strong financial support helped materially to make it a reality.

And so a new college gets underway. The auspices are favorable and 1955 holds great promise of ranking with other years of decision in the University’s history—the founding in 1850, the admission of women in 1900 and the opening of the River Campus in 1930. A long step forward has been taken in preparation for the task which the University faces in educating its share of the onrushing tide of college-age youth in the years ahead.

Cornelis W. de Kiewiet

Students arriving as strangers on the River Campus will hardly realize at first that they are the fortunate heirs of past intelligence, munificence, and sacrifice. When they have learned to salute the flag, to respect the Anderson statue, and to enjoy the quaint old sphinxes from Sibley Hall, they are ready to ascend the stairs to the upper level, the new era.

Crossing every day the Eastman Quadrangle, they may soon understand why the Eastman Monument is a meridian marker, with a line pointing due north. Toward that center of learning many paths converge; from it, friends will separate too soon.

That shining steel circle with the compass dial and the stars is a symbolic center of energy—solar energy, physical and chemical energy, vital energy, intellectual and spiritual energy. That is why the inner circle contains the formula of nuclear energy, "E equals mc squared." From that center, ideas radiate in all directions. You cannot see them, but they will change your lives. New ideas often move slowly, but sometimes they approach the velocity of light.

The campus has its lighter side. There is room for sentiment, with college songs about the river and the dandelion. There is a quiet evening charm in October, and winter sunsets of splendor and glory. Old oaks and aboriginal traditions still linger here. When you hear the chimes, sometimes there will be a melody you will never forget. We also have a jovial trumpet fanfare for Commencement, plenty of gaudy robes for the Faculty on parade, lively band music for the football games. Nothing dull or dreary here, on this new academic Riviera, where the old river bends on its way down stream.

In education we proceed through long, slow patient years of necessary detail, leading at rare intervals to some memorable hour of consummation, exhilaration, illumination and joy. In the vast whirling complex of space, time, energy, mystery and beauty which surrounds our little lives, such an hour has just arrived. Now and here we may be on the verge of something greater than we know.

John R. Slater,
Emeritus Professor of English

Excerpts from a talk at an All-University Convocation, October 9
BEGINNING early in the morning of a sparkling September day, cars bearing license plates from New York, Pennsylvania, Massachusetts, Ohio, New Jersey and many other states poured all day long in a steady stream into the circular drive in front of the splendid new Women's Residence Halls crowning the River Campus hilltop.

The atmosphere was one of gaiety and excitement on September 28 as 560 new men and women students arrived for freshman week preceding the opening of classes on October 3 for the start of the University's 106th year and the inauguration of the coeducational College of Arts and Science on the Genesee River.

As each car pulled up with an expectant girl freshman and her parents, upperclassmen students, casually smart in their tweed sports coats and flannel slacks, stepped up briskly and smilingly to help unload luggage and carry it into the building. Inside, other men students took over to move the trunks, suitcases, hatboxes, typewriters, and other equipment on to the elevators and up to assigned rooms. Quite often a teddy bear or woolly animal topped the pile. Upperclass women, chic in white flannel college jackets, welcomed the freshmen, showed them where to register, obtain room key and class beanie, and escorted them to the elevators. Members of the Faculty and Administration also were on hand to greet the newcomers and their parents.

Down at Todd Union on the lower campus, similar scenes were taking place as the men yearlings arrived.

Later that day, a Deans' assembly was held for parents of the freshmen, at which they were told about the College's program and facilities, and invited to ask questions. After their questions had been answered, a mother rose, and said:

"I have no questions, but I think I speak for all the parents when I express my thanks to the students and Faculty members who have given us, and our children starting college here today, such a wonderfully warm and friendly welcome. I have seldom experienced such genuine hospitality, and I don't see how any student could be homesick or other than happy at this beautiful campus."

Her comments were seconded with the applause from the other parents who filled the main floor of Strong Auditorium.

It didn't take any time for the men and women freshmen to get on a coeducational basis. As soon as they were settled in their rooms, the men strolled up to look over the women's building, and the women walked over to the men's residence quadrangle and Todd Union to get acquainted. That night all mingled at the opening Freshman Week dinner in the beautiful new women's dining room, Edwine Danforth Hall. During the rest of the week, in between and after aptitude tests, meetings with Faculty advisers, and other details, they had themselves a "ball," in their lingo, with get-acquainted luncheons and dinners, the Rochester-Williams game on Saturday, a dance Saturday evening, a convocation, and a picnic.

As Dean J. Edward Hoffmeister told the freshmen at the welcoming dinner saluting the Class of 1959:

"This is a wonderful day in the history of our College. We have been looking forward to it for many years. Thirty-two years ago this was a small undergraduate college for men and women located on the Prince Street Campus. Many things have happened since then. This small college was divided into two parts, separated by a distance of four miles for twenty-five years and has been brought back together again. This sounds simple and uncomplicated. But there is a world of hope, of concentrated thought, of hard work, of satisfaction, of frustration, and of happiness packed into these few words.

"Today we are together again. We are beginning a new era on the banks of the Genesee. I welcome all of you who are just beginning your college careers at this propitious time. You are the heirs of the fruit of all the thought, the labor, and the resources of those who have preceded you. We welcome you to our University family and proudly show you your inheritance.

"And what is your inheritance? Certainly this beautiful campus with its magnificent buildings and modern equipment is part of it; you will look far and wide for a college which surpasses it in the excellence of its facilities. But even more important you will find here a distinguished and devoted Faculty dedicated to the task of aiding you to qualify for the fuller responsibilities in the life of our times. In addition you will inherit the spirit of Rochester, an intangible that includes a friendly environment, insistence on high quality, a respect for the opinions of others, and a willingness to experiment with new ideas.

"This is your inheritance . . . made possible by the financial generosity and the sacrifices of thousands of citizens of Rochester, by the Alumni and Alumnae, and by friends of the University all over the country. I wish every man and woman who over the years has made a contribution to this College could be here tonight, so that we could express our gratitude to them. I hope they would be proud of what their gifts, their support and encouragement have accomplished."

Dr. Albert D. Kaiser '09, Dies, Eminent Physician

One of the University's most illustrious and revered alumni, Dr. Albert David Kaiser, '09, a member of the Board of Trustees since 1939 and Professor of Child Hygiene and Bacteriology and Preventive Medicine, died unexpectedly on November 1 after a heart attack. He had previously suffered a coronary thrombosis in 1955.

Dr. Kaiser, one of the nation's foremost pediatricians, retired from private practice in 1945 to accept the position of Rochester City Health Officer. The same year, he was appointed a full professor on the Medical School Faculty.

Full details of Dr. Kaiser's distinguished career will be published in the January issue.
Trustees Praise Dr. de Kiewiet’s ‘Creative Leadership’

President de Kiewiet’s ‘creative leadership’ and ‘bold, imaginative planning’ in unifying the two undergraduate colleges drew unanimous commendation from the Board of Trustees at its October meeting.

In a formal resolution, the Board stated: “Early in his administration of the affairs of The University of Rochester, President de Kiewiet saw with clarity the profound problems confronting American higher education and this University particularly. He conceived the bold, imaginative plan to unite the undergraduate colleges, thus greatly to strengthen them through concentration of resources. He skillfully and patiently created the necessary favorable atmosphere of consent.

“We, the Trustees of the University, applaud and commend this major accomplishment as one of the most significant and meaningful in the University’s history, ranking, as it does, with the founding in 1850, the move to Prince Street, and the building of the River Campus. It is an achievement which promises a shining future for this honored institution, and one for which the President’s leadership is responsible.”

By the construction of only three major new buildings—the Women’s Residence Halls, the women’s gymnasium, and the Men’s Dining Hall—and remodeling of other buildings to provide additional classroom, office, men’s dormitory and student activities space—the River Campus this fall was able to accommodate more than 1,700 students, where before it has had an enrollment of less than a thousand. It is in an enviable position to help meet the rising tide of young men and women coming through the nation’s high schools who will be seeking higher education in the years ahead.

With only a relatively modest amount of new construction—more men’s dormitories, an administration building, and additions to classroom and laboratory buildings—it will be able to increase its enrollment to 2,500 in the College of Arts and Science by 1965, President de Kiewiet has said. This, he told a group of Alumni recently, is due in large part to the wise planning of the River Campus back in the 1920’s.

The Rochester Democrat and Chronicle, stated in an editorial on October 3: “Not only has the University of Rochester been able to look ahead and plan for larger enrollments but it has brought about, calmly and efficiently, a merging of what amounts to two separate schools, the Men’s and Women’s Colleges. That in itself is an educational feat of no small proportions.

“The reunion of the two colleges is where the foresight of thirty-five years ago pays off . . . The modest requirements in new construction for consolidating the two undergraduate colleges grow out of the fact that the River Campus was superbly planned . . . A casual drive through the premises tells the visitor it is compact enough to make unnecessary long, time-consuming trips between buildings; yet the structures are sufficiently spaced to preserve the beauty of trees and landscaping—an ideal campus pattern that lends itself to expansion.

“The coming wave of students, President de Kiewiet admits, can ‘either engulf or lift us.’ From all the evidences at hand the institution is more likely to be lifted because it has looked ahead far enough to know what it wants to do and how to do it.”

Edward G. Miner Dies at 91; Trustee for 43 Years

Edward G. Miner with Dean Emeritus George H. Whipple in 1952 when Medical School Library was dedicated in honor of Mr. Miner. Miner’s interest in collecting books on history, and gave to the library some fine first editions of the New England school of literature which he collected, among them works of Emerson, Holmes, Whittier and others, as well as autographed letters and other choice items of Americana. His other gifts included many volumes on early American transportation and on Western New York.
New Women's Residence Halls Enhance Campus Life, Win Wide Admiration

Dramatically located on the highest River Campus knoll, commanding magnificent views through the large windows throughout the building, of the Genesee Valley, the Bristol Hills, and the river stretching to the city skyline, the new Women's Residence Halls have excited the enthusiastic admiration of students, parents, and campus visitors.

The students soon dubbed the building the "Habein Hilton"—the "Habein," of course, referring to Dean Margaret Habein.

From ground floor sewing, typing and recreation rooms to the glass-enclosed, rooftop solarium, the building is designed to meet almost every conceivable need of college girls living in a "dorm."

Keynotes of the building's interior design are the dramatic use of color, spaciousness, contemporary decor, and beauty combined with practicality.

The effect on those seeing it for the first time is almost breathtaking as they step through the glass entrance doors to the marble and teakwood foyer surrounded by four large lounges, each opening on a flagstone terrace. Extending from...
the foyer is a wide corridor accented by the bright-blue wall at the far end, leading to the dining hall.

The dormitory, actually "four buildings in one," is shaped like an X, with each of its four wings a self-contained residence hall.

A total of 540 students, approximately eighty per cent of the enrollment of women in the College of Arts and Science, is housed in the building this fall. It will accommodate 656 students in its 263 double rooms and 110 single rooms after transfer of University Administrative and Faculty offices which are located temporarily on the second floor.

Eggers and Higgins of New York City and Waasdorp and Northrup of Rochester were architects. Knoll Associates, Inc., of New York City, widely known interior decorators, are responsible for the decor of the building.

Mrs. Marion W. Fry, a Trustee of the University, served as chairman of an advisory committee on interior decoration. Other committee members are Dr. Margaret Habein, Dean of Instruction and Student Services; Elizabeth Whitney Nicoll, '41, representing Alumnae; Dr. Carl K. Hersey, Professor of Fine Arts, and James M. Young, Superintendent of Buildings and Grounds.

One of the most beautiful rooms is the dining hall, located on the first floor between the north and east wings and accessible from the elevator lobby. Large windows on three sides of the seventy by 130-foot room give a view to the north across the playing fields to the Genesee River and downtown Rochester skyline. The hall can accommodate about 700 persons.

A feature of the dining hall is its sliding partitions which make possible the use of the room as one large hall or four smaller units, one for each of the residence halls. Some of the

(Please turn to next page)
Happily ensconced in their new dormitory room are the two girls at desks, while visitor from neighboring room entertains on guitar.

Partitions are of open wood jalousies to allow light to filter through and retain a feeling of spaciousness. These floor-to-ceiling partitions have been placed in the room in a staggered plan, interrupted by solid color partitions—red, yellow, blue and black—in carefully selected spots to anchor the lightness of the room. Plant boxes are used to clarify definition of the four areas. The chair seat covers in each of the four units are of different colors, red, gray, yellow and blue being used. Walls on each end of the room are curtained with yellow linen casement. Linen fishnet is used on the window-walls running the length of the room to break the harshness of daylight without spoiling the view.

Each of the four residence halls has a main lounge, a library, and a music room on the first floor. Each lounge is arranged with several conversational groupings of furniture, in natural maple and of contemporary design, which are defined with plant boxes and benches. Window-walls are curtained with white linen casement. Walls are of off-white with the exception of one wall in each lounge which is painted in a color—red, blue or yellow.

In the north lounge, draperies are of yellow, olive green and dark green on off-white. Sofas are upholstered in gray and in black and brown. Yellow and black, gray and black, and olive are used on chairs. Rugs are gray. Draperies are black on lemon yellow in the east lounge. Blue and green Scotch linen is used on the sofas and some of the chairs. Other chairs are covered in a persimmon red and black and in black and white. Gray rugs are used.

In the south lounge chairs and sofas are covered in “rugby” red, in blue and in a black and gray combination. Draperies are blue with a black figure. The rugs are beige, as they are in the west lounge, where draperies are red, blue, white and black on beige linen. Black is used on some chairs and black and white plaid on others.

In addition to the facilities mentioned, the first floor of the Residence Halls houses the switchboard, kitchen, infirmary, the office of the hall’s director, Miss Barbara Lewis, suites for head residents and some student dormitories. Floors two through six are alike in being devoted to student dormitories, each well lighted by a large window. Here again, the designer has made striking use of color. One wall in each room is painted blue, yellow, red, black or gray. Other walls are light gray. Curtains are of washable seersucker.

Each student has a bed, knee hole desk, lamps, bookshelves, chair and storage facilities. Closets, which have sliding doors, and drawer and cupboard space are set into one of the walls. On each of the dormitory floors are four toilet and shower rooms, two small lounges, two kitchenettes and two “laundrettes,” where students may wash lingerie.

A glassed-in solarium looking out over the campus and the countryside is located on the roof, along with a twenty-four by
Lights in Danforth Hall, dining room wing, at dusk. On its hilltop location, building at night adds striking feature to the landscape.

one-hundred-foot cypress board sun deck and a laundry equipped with automatic washing and drying machines. Solarium furniture is covered with durable plastic in yellow and blue. Natural bamboo shades are used in the window walls which form three sides of the solarium.

City students living at home are able to enter more fully into campus life as a result of special provision made for them in the Residence Halls. On the third floor eight sleeping rooms furnished with bunk beds have been designated for occasional over-night use of girls living at home. City girls also have a lounge and locker room on the building’s ground floor.

From rooftop, glassed-in solarium, splendid views of the countryside may be had. Also on roof are laundry, large cypress board sun deck.

Jalousies and sliding partitions divide women’s dining room in four smaller units. When opened up, room can accommodate 700 persons, as seen below in welcoming fete for Class of ’59 during Freshman Week.
Dining and social facilities matching those of the Women's Residence Halls in completeness and attractiveness have been provided for men students in the two-story, brick and limestone Men's Dining Hall built against the hillside next to Rush Rhees Library and facing the Alumni Gymnasium.

Entering the building from the lower campus level main entrance is the commodious lobby from two sides of which the decorative stairways sweep up to the dining areas on the second floor. The focal point on entering the lobby, the stairs are accented by aluminum and plexiglas balustrades. This is a unique use of plexiglas and combines transparency with durability.

The decorative effect of the lobby and stairs is enhanced by a limed oak console placed in front of the mirrored wall, a
Opened

limed oak wainscot in the lobby and continuing up the stairwell, and gray fabric wall covering. The color scheme centers around the white, black and gray marble floor.

The men’s lounge to the right of the lobby occupies the front half of the main floor. Its limed oak wainscoting, sturdy but handsome furnishings of contemporary design, and large windows opening on campus vistas on two sides combine to give it both masculinity and warmth. A focal point of the room is a large Italian marble fireplace which was formerly in the board room of the Eastman Kodak Company and was donated to the University. The fireplace wall is of paneled limed oak.

To the left of the lobby is the Faculty Club with a spacious lounge and dining room and service kitchen. Student and Faculty cloak rooms also are on the first floor.

The main student dining room is on the second floor. A dominant architectural feature is the sixteen-foot high window walls on three sides, which give the room a feeling of both expanse and dignity. The specially-designed window hangings of charcoal on off-white feature an overall pattern of the University Seal, and brass chandeliers of special design add to the decorative effect. Dining chairs are upholstered in an apricot color. Because of the acoustical construction, the sound of rattling dishes and clatter often associated with dining rooms is conspicuously missing, as is the case in the women’s dining hall.

As a temporary measure, both ends of the room are partitioned off for University administrative offices. The hall’s present capacity of 450 persons will be increased to approximately 600 when offices are transferred to other buildings later on.

Also on the second floor is the huge kitchen which serves student dining rooms and those of the Faculty Club, and smaller dining rooms for group meetings.

The structure is so designed that it can be enlarged in the future by adding two stories on the rear wing.
With coeducation now established at the River Campus, the new program coordinating all student services in a unique administrative organization designed to help each student obtain the maximum benefit from his or her college experience, both in the classroom and in every aspect of student life, will reach full effect.

Introduced last year and authored by President de Kiewiet, the plan, believed to be unprecedented in scope and organization, seeks to make certain that all students have the opportunity to develop their fullest intellectual, moral and social capacity, and to do all possible to improve the number of students who complete their college work successfully, with sound mental and physical health, well trained, well adjusted, and well disciplined both in mind and character. It combines the academic program with extracurricular activities, health and medical services, religious guidance, dormitory life, admissions and counseling and placement work, testing and remedial activities.

All student services are closely coordinated under a Committee on Student Welfare headed by Dr. Margaret Habein, Dean of Instruction and Student Services, with Dr. J. Edward Hoffmeister, Dean of the College of Arts and Science, serving on the committee ex officio. The committee includes:

Morey J. Wantman, Associate Dean of Instruction and Student Services, Dean of Men H. Pearce Atkins, Jr., Dean of Women Ruth A. Merrill, Dr. Kathrine Koller, English Department Chairman, the Rev. Robert H. Beaven, Director of Religious Activities, Charles R. Dalton, Director of Admissions, and members of his staff, Miss Barbara Lewis, Director of Women's Residence Halls, Frank J. Dowd, Jr., Director of Men's Residence Halls, Dr. J. Fletcher McAmmond, Chief Medical Officer of the College, Dr. Robert W. Atkins, psychiatrist, Dr. Earl F. Telschow, Assistant Professor of Psychology, Clifton T. MacLeod, Director of Student Activities, Joseph W. Cole, Associate Director of Testing and Counseling Service, Ward L. Taylor and Dr. Isabel K. Wallace, Vocational Counselors and Placement Officers for men and women respectively.
Fruitful discussion sessions, pictured above, were held for two days in Rush Rhees Library.

Second U. S.-Canada Conference Studies Foreign Policies Bases

Seventy leading representatives of education, diplomatic circles, defense industries, press and radio from the two countries took part in the University of Rochester's second annual Canada-United States Conference at the River Campus on August 31 and September 1. This year's round-table discussion topic was "The Bases of Canadian and United States Foreign Policies."

The conference was sponsored by the University as an important part of its Canadian Studies, of which Mason Wade is the new director and is also Associate Professor of History. The 1955 conference was even more of a success than the highly-praised session conducted a year ago on Canada-U. S. economic relations. Like the first, it was off the record, except for the addresses at the final dinner meeting by the Hon. Robert D. Murphy, U. S. Deputy Under Secretary of State, and the Hon. Paul Martin, Canadian Minister of National Health and Welfare and prominent in the United Nations General Assembly as chairman of the Canadian delegation.

The New York Times devoted its leading editorial on Sunday, September 4, to the conference, in which it said in part:

"No two countries in this world are so closely mixed up together for good or ill, whether they like it or not, as the United States and Canada. This fact sometimes annoys the citizens of both countries, but it is a good thing for the two of us and for the free world.

"Such being the case, it was a public service of the first order for the University of Rochester to institute last year an (Please turn to next page)
U. S., Canada Press Hails Conference

By Norman I. Smith
Associate Editor
The Ottawa Journal

One day late in August several of us piled into a car and headed for Rochester, bearing the resounding title of “delegates” to a conference on Canadian-United States relations.

The conference proved a delight. The University of Rochester played host and it is a boost to one’s vanity to sleep and eat in its handsome buildings, to stroll about under its shade trees with “other” interesting people, to sit down in the meeting room of a fine library and hear some first-rate minds thinking out loud about the life and times of our two countries.

An indispensable strength of the conference was that it was off-the-record, save the two long (pun it if you wish) formal speeches of the Hon. Robert Murphy and the Hon. Paul Martin which closed the ceremonies.

First, a glance at our membership. We were about thirty-five from each country, of which there were the presidents or vice presidents of the universities of Rochester, Toronto, Queen’s, McMaster and Carleton.

Another twenty-five were history, economics or political professors all the way from Louisiana to New Brunswick, from British Columbia to Harvard.

There was a baker’s dozen of senior government officers and there were a score of businessmen such as the heads of Eastman Kodak, the Rockefeller and Carnegie Foundations, Du Pont Company of Canada, Canadian Vickers, and a gaggle of newspaper editors.

It was no more than “good talk” that was sought. Nobody harangued, nobody orated; there were no resolutions, no votes. To keep things in some kind of order the four sessions had topic heads that served as invitations to the ball.

They were: (1) Factors in planning foreign policy, (2) the legislative process and foreign policy, (3) joint defense and foreign policy, (4) public opinion and foreign policy.

For each topic a couple of speakers came prepared with a twenty minute talk and for another eighty minutes their views were pushed about by the assembly-at-large.

Dr. C. W. de Kiewiet, Rochester’s president, gave the conference an admirable target in his opening address; one which may be quoted. Canadian-United States relations, he said, suffered mostly from “unseen assassins,” namely: Evasion, half-truth, misunderstanding, runaway oratory, vagueness, demagogues brandishing patriotism.

In the face of those “unseen assassins,” education was a form of statesmanship, whether in schools, colleges, press, radio or assembly. The challenge was given to all.

There was a kind of common groan from the Americans at their massive problem of leading the world at its most unleadable time in history; their famed melting pot was making things hot for them.

One would like to dwell longer on the sheer charm of the mind of Dr. de Kiewiet, on the pace of the good talk which never seemed to fail these men, on the luxurious sources of humor which rather surprisingly never ran out and often enabled the most dead pan educationist or executive to make devastating sallics into enemy territory that would in other circumstances fetch out the local constabulary.

And one wants to add that such a conference, held at the expense of Rochester University, was in itself an act of statesmanship and certainly of friendship.

The St. Lawrence, as we crossed it coming back seemed more than ever a mutual bond and rich possession, the only fitting borderline between two such countries. But even so, what a great thing that our friends at Rochester are taking pains to keep it that way.

Conference

(Continued from preceding page)

annual ‘Canada-United States Conference.’ The second such meeting took place in Rochester (this week) on ‘The Bases of Canadian-United States Foreign Policies.’ The annual Rochester conferences, where sixty or seventy educators, diplomats, industrialists, and journalists meet to thresh out mutual problems, performs a valuable service in creating understanding. Let us hope they will become a permanent institution.”

The atmosphere of the conference and the enthusiastic reactions of the Canadian participants is well expressed in the accompanying description by Norman I. Smith, associate editor of The Ottawa Journal, who took part in the sessions. It is a condensation of Mr. Smith’s article in the Journal of September 6.
Miss Annette Munro Dies; Was First Dean of Women

On the eve of the opening of the College of Arts and Science coeducational program on the River Campus, Miss Annette Gardner Munro, first Dean of the College for Women, died October 2 in Providence, R. I., where she had lived since her retirement in 1930. She was ninety-four years old.

Only a few months before her death, Miss Munro had been visited by Miss Hazel Wilbraham, '27, Assistant Professor of Physical Education at the UR and a friend of long standing. Miss Wilbraham said Miss Munro's memory was "just as keen as ever" and that she retained her intense interest in the University. She was particularly interested in the merger of the Men's and Women's Colleges and thought it "a very progressive move," Miss Wilbraham related.

During the same visit, Miss Munro asked about many of the women graduates of the University, by name.

When she came to Rochester in 1939 to attend the dedication ceremony for Munro Hall, women's residence on the Prince Street Campus which was named for her, Miss Munro shook hands with hundreds of women graduates and called them by name without any prompting, Miss Wilbraham recalled. When one alumna remarked that the former dean certainly would not remember her, Miss Munro replied with characteristic humor: "Oh yes I do. I had such a time getting you through college."

Miss Munro was appointed Dean of the College for Women in 1910 and held that position until 1930, when she was made Dean Emeritus. Among the many tributes paid to her at that time was one by Miss Eleanor Slater, '25, daughter of Dr. John R. Slater, Professor Emeritus of English. She wrote of Miss Munro:

"We have needed her quiet refinement, the constant leaven of her humor, her total absence of any display or desire for recognition. We have needed her fair-mindedness, her sympathy and tolerance. We have needed the firm realism that has kept us grounded in truth and the many-sided culture that has invited us into wider interests . . . She has made her place, and no one else will ever be able to fill it in quite the same way."

Miss Slater, who is now Mother Mary Eleanor of the Society of the Holy Child Jesus and a professor of English at Rosemont College, Rosemont, Pa., referred to Miss Munro's gallant fight to overcome ill health, from which she suffered most of her life but which did not prevent her from carrying on her duties or taking a personal interest in the many girls in her charge. She is known to have helped women students in financial straits with money from her own pocket.

A native of Bristol, R. I., Miss Munro was graduated from Wellesley College in 1885. The University of Rochester awarded her a Master of Arts degree in 1910 and made her an honorary Doctor of Letters in 1930. Before coming to the University, she was prepress and head of the history department at Wheaton Seminary in Norton, Mass., and later worked in the cataloging department of the Portland, Ore., Library Association.

A funeral service for Miss Munro was held in St. Martin's Church, Providence, October 4. Burial was in Providence.

UR High in Engineers' Who's Who

The University of Rochester ranks third among colleges and universities of the nation in the proportion of its engineering graduates listed in the latest edition of Who's Who in Engineering, according to the journal Mechanical Engineering, as reported in Newsweek magazine.

The elite of engineering schools on this basis is headed by Dartmouth, an analysis by Dr. Charles J. Baer of the University of Kansas engineering school showed. Second is the University of Nebraska, third, Rochester, followed by Kansas, Missouri, California Institute of Technology, Swarthmore, the University of Pennsylvania, South Dakota State and Missouri University's Schools of Mines and Metallurgy.

On the basis of total numbers of listed engineers, Massachusetts Institute of Technology heads the 475 colleges mentioned in the engineering Who's Who. Dr. Baer found, but M. I. T. dropped to eighteenth place in the comparison of each college's Who's Who engineers to its total output.

The other nine leaders on the basis of total numbers of listed engineers are the universities of Michigan, Cornell, Purdue, Illinois, Wisconsin, California, Ohio State, Kansas, and Minnesota.

Edward P. Doyle, '29, Wins Top Hearst Editorial Post

News Editor of the New York Journal-American since 1946, Edward P. (Ted) Doyle, '29, has been promoted to a key position in the Hearst newspaper chain as executive editor of the Chicago American. He took over his new position in October.

Remembered as a brilliant student at the University, where he played basketball for a time, he worked at the Rochester Democrat and Chronicle his senior year, and won election to Phi Beta Pappa. After a year in New York City, where he did a stint in Macy's and decided that women's ready-to-wear and household furnishings were intellectually stultifying, he returned to Rochester and the Democrat and Chronicle where he remained for nine years, successively as assistant drama editor, reporter, feature editor and head of the copy desk.

In 1942 he joined the U. S. Navy as lieutenant and his journalistic talents were put to good use as assistant public relations officer for the Third Naval District. He served aboard the corvette Restless in the Atlantic, and later was combat intelligence and public relations officer aboard the U. S. S. Missouri for nine months in 1944 and 1945, during which he participated in the actions at Iwo Jima and Okinawa and the carrier raid on Tokyo. He went on a special commission to Europe in 1945 in connection with the capture of the old North German Lloyd liner Bremen, which was briefly converted into a transport. Doyle was separated from the Navy in 1946 with the rank of commander.
Coeducation failed to bring refinement to annual soph-frosh flag rush. still rough-and-tumble men’s fracas. 1955 free-for-all took place on rain-soaked athletic field.

The Women’s Residence Halls have their own student governing body, the Women’s Council. City women not living on campus are represented on the Council and the Social Committee, and have their own lounge and locker room in the new building. Under the guidance of Miss Barbara Lewis, Director of the Women’s Residence Halls, the women students have planned a comprehensive social program of coffee hours, dances, teas and college suppers. Exchange dinners with the men’s residence halls and fraternities, and game nights for men and women students also are planned. Folk singing and dancing are among other activities. Sororities are holding many of their functions in the halls.

More lounge space has been provided in the men’s residence halls, including a large lounge in Crosby on the ground floor, and three lounges in Burton Hall for fraternities which do not have houses on campus. The men have planned a dormitory social program which includes coffee hours, bridge and ping pong tournaments, and dances.

About 200 non-resident students are attached to the men’s residence halls this year, according to Frank J. Dowd, Jr., Director. The city men have locker and study room facilities in Lovejoy and Hoeing Halls and are represented in the student government for the halls. Representatives to the College Congress are elected from the individual men’s and women’s residence halls and from fraternity houses.
COLLEGE FOR MEN
- 1896 60th Class Reunion, June 8, 9, 10, 1956.
- 1897
ARTHUR B. ENOS, a Rochester stock broker for fifty-five years, died in Rochester on August 21. Mr. Enos, the first president of the old Rochester stock exchange, was associated with Sage Rutty and Company, Inc., at the time of his death. From 1900 to 1921 he operated his own firm in partnership with Thomas Ford and from 1923 to 1932 served as manager of the Rochester office of the firm of Dryden, Pennington and Colket of New York and Philadelphia. He later served in the investment department of Erickson and Perkins Company. He was a member of Delta Upsilon.
- 1899
THE REV. EDWIN O. WILSON, a retired clergyman, died in the fall of 1954. He was a member of Theta Delta Chi and lived in Daytona Beach, Fla.

- 1906 30th Class Reunion, June 8, 9, 10, 1956.
- 1907 LESLIE M. CONLY, director of the New York Herald Tribune Fresh Air Fund from 1911 to 1946, died in Northport, L. I., on August 22. Prior to joining the Tribune staff in 1910, he taught for three years at Rochester's East High School. At the University of Michigan, a post he has held for fourteen years. Barker received graduate degrees from Michigan in 1913 and 1915 and has been a member of the school faculty for thirty-three years.
- 1910
T. ARTHUR CONNOR, a partner in the Rochester firm of John Connor and Son, died on July 17. A veteran of World War I, he was a member of Theta Delta Chi and the URI football team while in college. He is survived by two daughters, two sons, two brothers and a sister.
- 1911
45th Class Reunion, June 8, 9, 10, 1956.
JAMES P. O'CONNOR, former City and County Court Judge in Rochester and Monroe County, died at his Canandaigua Lake (N. Y.) cottage on August 15. A graduate of Cornell University Law School and Army veteran of World War I, Judge O'Connor became Judge of the City Court in 1923 following service as ward supervisor and assistant district attorney in Rochester. He served in this post for twenty years, becoming Monroe County Judge in 1943. He retired from the bench in 1953. A lover of dogs and famous breeder of fox terriers, Judge O'Connor was a former president of the Rochester Kennel Club. He died at his Canandaigua Lake cottage on August 17. A veteran of World War I, Judge O'Connor became Judge of the City Court in 1923 following service as ward supervisor and assistant district attorney in Rochester. He served in this post for twenty years, becoming Monroe County Judge in 1943. He retired from the bench in 1953. A lover of dogs and famous breeder of fox terriers, Judge O'Connor was a former president of the Rochester Valley Kennel Club. He is survived by his brothers, Frederick F. and John O'Connor.
- 1913
JOHN P. O'CONNOR, former City and County Court Judge in Rochester and Monroe County, died at his Canandaigua Lake (N. Y.) cottage on August 15. A graduate of Cornell University Law School and Army veteran of World War I, Judge O'Connor became Judge of the City Court in 1923 following service as ward supervisor and assistant district attorney in Rochester. He served in this post for twenty years, becoming Monroe County Judge in 1943. He retired from the bench in 1953. A lover of dogs and famous breeder of fox terriers, Judge O'Connor was a former president of the Rochester Valley Kennel Club. He is survived by his brothers, Frederick F. and John O'Connor.

- 1920
DR. CYRIL J. STAUB, director of the Kodak Research Laboratories since 1947, was among twenty-five individuals and organizations cited on August 17 by the Photographers Association of America for distinguished service to the field of professional photography. The award was made at a seventy-fifth anniversary banquet of the association held in Chicago.
- 1921
35th Class Reunion, June 8, 9, 10, 1956.
- 1922
L. ARTHUR CONNOR, a partner in the Rochester firm of John Connor and Son, died on July 17. A veteran of World War I, he was a member of Theta Delta Chi and the URI football team while in college. He is survived by two daughters, two sons, two brothers and a sister.
- 1924
50th Class Reunion, June 8, 9, 10, 1956.
FLETCHER W. HARTSHORN has been named vice president in charge of personnel of the New York Telephone Company. Hartshorn, who has been upstate area vice president in Albany since 1948, assumed his new duties on August 1. He has been employed by the firm since 1926.
- 1931
25th Class Reunion, June 8, 9, 10, 1956.
- 1933
ARMIN N. BENDER has been appointed television sales manager of the Stromberg-Carlson Broadcasting Corporation. He has been with WHAM since 1947 and joined the station's sales department as an assistant in 1952.

- 1938
G. E. CROSS, forty-two, assistant professor of history at the University of West Virginia, Morgantown, died September 22 in Morgantown. Dr. Cross, a member of the West Virginia faculty since 1949, was Assistant Professor of Dr. Cyril J. Staub, director of the Kodak Research Laboratories since 1947, was among twenty-five individuals and organizations cited on August 17 by the Photographers Association of America for distinguished service to the field of professional photography. The award was made at a seventy-fifth anniversary banquet of the association held in Chicago.

- 1940
JULIUS BLAND has been appointed head of the service metallurgy section of the Engineering Research department of the Standard Oil Company (Indiana).
History at the UR Summer Session last summer. He had also taught at Smith College, Cornell University, Connecticut College, Mount Holyoke College and Utah State College. He received his Master of Arts degree at the UR in 1936 and his doctorate at Harvard University in 1945.

He was author of "Burned-Over District," a study of religious movements in Western New York. He was president of the Unitarian Fellowship of Morgantown, which he founded, and active in the Red Cross and Boy Scouts.

The son of the late William P. Cross, '01, he is survived by his wife, Ruth Whipple Cross, '36, his mother, Helen Rogers Cross, '03, and his sisters, Harriet Cross Gale, '57, and Mrs. W. L. Utley, and three children, Peter Jonathan and David.

* 1936
* 20th Class Reunion, June 8, 9, 10, 1956.
* 1938

HAROLD M. KENTNER, a member of the faculty at Rochester Institute of Technology since 1950, has been appointed counselor of the school's management department. Kentner received his master's degree from the UR in 1951.

NELSON W. SPITS has been appointed personnel director of Kodak Office, Eastman Kodak Company. Since 1947, he has been assistant to the personnel director.

* 1939

A daughter, Melissa, was born on July 14 to Mr. and Mrs. RAYMOND D. LEWIS of Rochester.

H. ELWOOD WHITE was recently named controller of the Rochester Telephone Corp. He has served as assistant controller since 1949.

* 1941

15th Class Reunion, June 8, 9, 10, 1956.

Dr. JOHN H. MANHOLD, JR., was appointed on July 1 to the post of assistant professor of oral pathology in the Washington University School of Dentistry in St. Louis. He is a graduate of the Harvard University School of Dentistry and has taught at Tufts College of Medicine and Dentistry.

* 1942

MARTIN Q. MOLL and Beverly Rechbold were married in Rochester on July 9.

William Sandow, Jr., recently resigned as enrollment and public relations director of the Rochester Hospital Service Corporation in order to accept the position of executive director of the statewide South Carolina Hospital Service and Medical Care plans. His home is in Greenville, S. C. Sandow joined the Rochester staff six years ago as a field representative.

Dr. GEORGE A. AGoston has joined the physical sciences division of Stanford Research Institute, Stanford, Calif., as a senior physicist. He formerly had been senior research engineer at California Institute of Technology where he worked in the jet propulsion laboratory.

* 1943

HARRY L. BARRETT, JR., was awarded his Ph.D. degree by Harvard University in June.

* 1944

JOHN W. HANCOCK is serving as president of the Rochester Junior Chamber of Commerce.

William B. Farley received his master's degree from Harvard University on June 16.

* 1946

JEHONET E. KORPECK is associated with a law firm in Woodmere, Md., and was recently admitted to the Maryland Bar. He is a graduate of the George Washington Law School in Washington, D. C.

Dr. ALEXANDER G. MAJOR, assistant professor of science at the Potsdam (N. Y.) State Teachers College, received his Ph.D. degree from Syracuse University in June. A former teacher in New York State public schools, Dr. Major received his master's degree from Syracuse University in June 1947.

* 1948

10th Class Reunion, June 8, 9, 10, 1956.

A son, William, was born on June 6 to Mr. and Mrs. JAMES G. SLOMAN of White Plains, N. Y.

GORDON SHILLINGLAW has returned to the teaching field after three years of consulting experience, and is now assistant professor of Industrial Management, School of Industrial Management, Massachusetts Institute of Technology.

* 1947

SYLVESTER J. SANFILIPPO received his M.D. degree from the University of Utah in June.

N. J., where he is a columnist and reporter for the Trentonian. He is married and the father of two daughters.

* 1949

ROBERT E. QUINN has been appointed a research fellow in medicine at the Harvard University Medical School.

RONALD A. KRAUTSCHER was married on September 5 in Rochester to Eileen Miller.

DANIEL W. ODELL is teaching at Miami University, Oxford, Ohio.

MYRON ROBINSON has earned the LL.B. degree from Harvard University on June 16.

* 1950

ELMER J. O'CONNOR, employed as a manufacturing foreman at the General Electric radio plant in Utica, N. Y., recently assumed command of the Naval Reserve Surface Division 3-100 in Utica. He had seen service with the Navy during World War II and had been recalled to active duty following his graduation from the UR. He returned from active duty in 1952.

CARL W. GARLAND and Joan A. Donahue were married in Cambridge, Mass., on July 30.

A son, Christopher, was born on May 4 to Mr. and Mrs. JOHN D. MURPHY.

An M.D. degree was awarded to EDWARD C. ATWATER by Harvard University on June 16.

* 1951

5th Class Reunion, June 8, 9, 10, 1956.

GILBERT B. FRIEDMAN received his M.D. degree from Tufts University on June 12.

SEYMOUR FOGEL is employed in Rochester by Williams, Clapp and Company, certified public accountants.

LOUIS A. ALEXANDER, Jr., was appointed in July to the faculty of the Rochester Institute of Technology as an instructor in physical education. In addition to coaching junior varsity basketball and varsity baseball, Alexander will be in charge of the men's physical education activities, including intramurals.

FRANK E. WOOD was married in Cincinnati, Ohio, on June 23 to Mary Thomas.

DONALD McNARY recently joined the sales force of Edgecomb Steel of New England, Inc., NASHUA, N. H., and has been assigned to the company's branch warehouse in Pawtucket, R. I. He previously had been employed by the Bridgeport Steel Company.

GERALD L. DALES and Virginia Collins were married in California on July 13 and are now making their home in Reno, Nev., where Dales is assigned to the Stead Air Force Base.
**1952**
Edward J. Springer and Carole Handel were married in Albany, N. Y., on August 6. Springer, a 1955 graduate of Albany Law School, is in practice in Rochester.

Charles A. Pierricott, Jr., has been granted the graduate fellowship in physics recently established at the UR by the Curtiss-Wright Corporation. It is the first pre-doctoral fellowship established by the corporation at any university in the U. S. and the first industry-supported UR graduate fellowship in physics.

William A. Sanschagrin was released from active duty with the Navy in June and is now employed at the Buffalo Chemical Division of the Food Machinery and Chemical Corporation.

William P. Harris received his Doctor of Dental Surgery degree from New York University's College of Dentistry in June and is now serving as an officer in the Navy.

William R. Rennagel, instructor in chemistry at the Chicago Undergraduate Division of the University of Illinois for the past two years, has joined the laboratory staff at the Frederick Post Company, also in Chicago.

Joseph T. Bagnara is studying for his Ph.D. degree in zoology at the State University of Iowa.

Herbert A. Bell was married on July 30 to Vera J. Furnier. Their home is in Utica, N. Y.

In June, Bernard Schuster and Lee Syl­vester received LL.B. degrees from Harvard University, and an M.D. degree was awarded to Martin P. Feldman.

• 1953
Charles Olin and Elizabeth Hersee were married on July 16. They are making their home in Buffalo where Olin is a student at the University of Buffalo Medical College.

William C. Breoffele and Rose B. Smith were married on July 9 in Richfield Springs, N. Y.

Rudolf B. Horst received his master's degree in August from Iowa State Teachers College.

John D. Ferner received his master's degree in June from Harvard University.

were married on July 9 in Washington, D. C. Manikowski is a 1955 graduate of the U. S. Naval Academy, Annapolis, Md.

Gerson H. Aronovitz and Avis Yaffe were married in Syracuse, N. Y., on August 28.

Kenneth G. Knox has been appointed ed­itor of the Stromberg-Carlson employee pub­lication, The Speaker.


Charles Baglio and Nancy G. Brown were married in Rochester on August 27.

John W. Pratt and Ira H. Schulman re­ceived their master's degrees from Harvard University on June 16.

• 1955
Donald DeVries and Shirley Abbott were married on June 25 in North Syracuse, N. Y. Their home is in Oncioia, N. Y., where DeVries is employed by the Smith-Lee Co.

George D. Goodrich and Susan Phelan were married in Rochester on September 4.

Peter Aavakian is doing graduate work at Massachusetts Institute of Technology.

**COLLEGE FOR WOMEN**

• 1906
50th Class Reunion, June 8, 9, 10, 1956.

• 1907
Emalaine Haap entertained six members of the class at her home on May 25.

• 1908
The sympathy of the class is extended to Grace Fowler Cropsey whose husband, William, died on May 22.

• 1911
45th Class Reunion, June 8, 9, 10, 1956.

• 1916
40th Class Reunion, June 8, 9, 10, 1956.

• 1921
35th Class Reunion, June 8, 9, 10, 1956.

• 1923
Brulah Briscoe Compton, a member of the faculty at Hood College, Frederick, Md., for the past ten years, is now head of the department of psychology at Kuka College, Keka Park, N. Y.

Hamilton, 40, and Margaret Willers Marie.

With all three of her children attending school for the first time together, Janet Ros­sental Saltan has returned to the practice of law in partnership with her husband in Rochester.

• 1939
Eileen Welch left Rochester in September and is now working for the R. T. Vanderbilt Company in Norwalk, Conn.

Berta Peterson Harper and Robert P. Cory were married on July 10 in Rochester. Their home is in Upper Marlboro, Md. Cory is a research psychologist with the Department of the Army in Washington, and her husband is in the automobile business there.

• 1940
A third child and second daughter, Nancy, was born on July 11 to Robert and Janet Mc­Cord Gordon.

Ann Van Wynen Thomas recently completed a book on international law, "The Law of Non-Intervention and Its Import in the Americas," to be published by the Southwestern Legal Foundation. She and her husband are developing a Latin American program at Southern Methodist University Law School, Dallas, Tex.

• 1941
15th Class Reunion, June 8, 9, 10, 1956.

• 1942
Doris Smith, an employee of the Todd Corporation in Rochester for the past eight years, recently received a gift of $2,150 from the firm as part of its employee suggestion program. Her gift, the largest to be awarded by the company since its suggestion system was instituted twenty years ago, was for devising a simpli­fied accounting system which saves the company about $8,500 in annual labor costs.

The class held its annual children's party on June 28 at the home of Marcella Pugh Matthew of Toronto, Ontario. Mark and Helene Tschudi, 1941 graduates, have returned to the area from Mexico City. The J. C. van Wynen, 1942 graduate, lived in Canada with his wife, Andrea, and son, Johnn, and now resides in Canada with his wife and daughter, Diane.

• 1954
Pvt. Harold W. Sobel is stationed in Ger­many with the Army where he serves as a ra­dio operator with the 5th Infantry Division. He entered the service in the fall of 1954.

Samuel W. Day and Margaret Mowry were married on June 25 in Oxford, N. Y.

Paul R. Manigowski and Mary T. Robey were married on July 9 in Washington, D. C. Manikowski is a 1955 graduate of the U. S. Naval Academy, Annapolis, Md.

Gerson H. Aronovitz and Avis Yaffe were married in Syracuse, N. Y., on August 28.

Kenneth G. Knox has been appointed ed­itor of the Stromberg-Carlson employee pub­lication, The Speaker.


Charles Baglio and Nancy G. Brown were married in Rochester on August 27.

John W. Pratt and Ira H. Schulman re­ceived their master's degrees from Harvard University on June 16.

• 1955
Donald DeVries and Shirley Abbott were married on June 25 in North Syracuse, N. Y. Their home is in Oncioia, N. Y., where DeVries is employed by the Smith-Lee Co.

George D. Goodrich and Susan Phelan were married in Rochester on September 4.

Peter Aavakian is doing graduate work at Massachusetts Institute of Technology.

**COLLEGE FOR WOMEN**

• 1906
50th Class Reunion, June 8, 9, 10, 1956.

• 1907
Emalaine Haap entertained six members of the class at her home on May 25.

• 1908
The sympathy of the class is extended to Grace Fowler Cropsey whose husband, William, died on May 22.

• 1911
45th Class Reunion, June 8, 9, 10, 1956.

• 1916
40th Class Reunion, June 8, 9, 10, 1956.

• 1921
35th Class Reunion, June 8, 9, 10, 1956.

• 1923
Brulah Briscoe Compton, a member of the faculty at Hood College, Frederick, Md., for the past ten years, is now head of the department of psychology at Kuka College, Keku Park, N. Y.

Hamilton, 40, and Margaret Willers Marie.

With all three of her children attending school for the first time together, Janet Ro­sental Saltan has returned to the practice of law in partnership with her husband in Rochester.

• 1939
Eileen Welch left Rochester in September and is now working for the R. T. Vanderbilt Company in Norwalk, Conn.

Berta Peterson Harper and Robert P. Cory were married on July 10 in Rochester. Their home is in Upper Marlboro, Md. Cory is a research psychologist with the Department of the Army in Washington, and her husband is in the automobile business there.

• 1940
A third child and second daughter, Nancy, was born on July 11 to Robert and Janet Mc­Cord Gordon.

Ann Van Wynen Thomas recently completed a book on international law, "The Law of Non-Intervention and Its Import in the Americas," to be published by the Southwestern Legal Foundation. She and her husband are developing a Latin American program at Southern Methodist University Law School, Dallas, Tex.

• 1941
15th Class Reunion, June 8, 9, 10, 1956.

• 1942
Doris Smith, an employee of the Todd Corporation in Rochester for the past eight years, recently received a gift of $2,150 from the firm as part of its employee suggestion program. Her gift, the largest to be awarded by the company since its suggestion system was instituted twenty years ago, was for devising a simpli­fied accounting system which saves the company about $8,500 in annual labor costs.

The class held its annual children's party on June 28 at the home of Marcella Pugh Matthew of Toronto, Ontario. Mark and Helene Tschudi, 1941 graduates, have returned to the area from Mexico City. The J. C. van Wynen, 1942 graduate, lived in Canada with his wife, Andrea, and son, Johnn, and now resides in Canada with his wife and daughter, Diane.

• 1954
Pvt. Harold W. Sobel is stationed in Ger­many with the Army where he serves as a ra­dio operator with the 5th Infantry Division. He entered the service in the fall of 1954.

Samuel W. Day and Margaret Mowry were married on June 25 in Oxford, N. Y.

Paul R. Manigowski and Mary T. Robey were married on July 9 in Washington, D. C. Manikowski is a 1955 graduate of the U. S. Naval Academy, Annapolis, Md.

Gerson H. Aronovitz and Avis Yaffe were married in Syracuse, N. Y., on August 28.
A daughter, Ann Elizabeth, on July 1, to Roger and Helen Vincent Kohlmeier.
A son, William, on July 26, to Robert and Ruth Swankier. A son, Alan, on August 27 to Alan, '50, and Mary Lou Reinhardt Miller of Rochester.

1951
5th Class Reunion, June 8, 9, 10, 1956. Dr. Linda W. Fairley and Dr. Eugene Fairley, Jr., '54M, were married in Rochester on July 2. They are associated this year with the Denver (Colo.) General Hospital.

Marcia Van De Carr was married in Woodstock, VT., on September 7 to John W. Widenman. Their home is in Cambridge, Mass., where Widenman is a student at Harvard University.

BIRTHS:
A third child and first daughter, on June 29, to Lawrence and Carol Rupert Doty.
A daughter, Jessie, on May 26, to Harry and Lois Ingersoll Watts.
A son, Ralph, on February 10, to David and Natalie Taylor Dutton.
A second son, Karl, on April 10, to William and Nancy Booth Wengel.
A son, Scott, on August 17, to Carl and Virginia Valentine Neumann.
A son, Karl, on August 25, to Lyman and Sally Gaus Miller.
A daughter, Susan, on July 10, to Paul and Dorothy Hussey Malchick.

1952
Jean Foster Clarke and her husband, Bromley, '51, are now living in Cocoa, Fla., where Clarke is employed by the North American Aviation Company.

Mildred Edwards Hansen and her husband, Peter, '52, are now living in Arlington, Mass. Hansen is continuing his studies at the Massachusetts Institute of Technology.

MARRIED:
Elizabeth Lingeman and Herbert Popper on June 11 in Schenectady, N. Y.
Carolyn Giffith and George H. Hall on July 9 in Palmyra, N. Y.

Athena Apinomithi and Dr. Sarantis R. Saranton on June 18 in Elizabeth, N. J.

Cynthia L. Farnum and Richard F. Bake- meier, '52, on August 27 in Avon, N. Y. After two years of medical research at Cambridge, England, Bakemeier has resumed his studies at the UR Medical School.

Have you become a star of the stage, concert world, TV or movies? Have you had a promotion, increase in your family? Written a book? Been elected to office? Your classmates would like to know about it. The Class Notes editor welcomes items about you and your college contemporaries. Please send them to him care of the Office of Alumni Relations, University Station, Rochester 20.

1953
A son, David, was born on May 13 to Glenn and Sylvia Knowling Barrett.

MARRIED:
Shirley Stam and Robert Heeks, '52, on July 16 in Rochester.

Dorothy M. Ray and Kenney Marengo on September 3 in Binghamton, N. Y.

Rita W. Rosinus and Richard Sick on July 16 in Rochester.

1954
Rosalina Shi Tong received her master's degree in Art Education from Pennsylvania State University on June 11.

MARRIED:
Mary Lou Doerrlinger and S. David Farr, '54, on August 20 in Rochester.

Mary E. Healey and John Donnelly on August 20 in Schenectady. Their home is in Jackson, Mich.

Madelyn Wilson and Edward Graves on August 20.

Agnes Karen Kelly and Walter Fitzgerald on August 27.

Jane McNamara and Karl Eek on August 27.

Noel J. Alexander and James Benson on June 15 in Rochester.

Patricia Matthews and Donald Jones on August 20 in Rochester.

Katherine Jean Gelmer and Anthony St. Phillips on July 23 in Rochester. Their home is in France where St. Phillips is teaching the children of American Air Force personnel.

1955
Mildred Bigelow is a student at the Johns Hopkins School of Advanced International Studies, Washington, D. C.

Patricia Kraut is studying for her doctorate in English at Yale University.

Nancy Baum is teaching English at the University of Lille in France as part of a teacher exchange program sponsored by the UK and the French university.

Mary Beat and Bob Nagel are president and first vice president of College Congress, the new legislative body of Students' Association.
Eastman School

1938
E. DOUGLAS DANFELT is now serving as assistant professor of music and director of the band at Gettysburg (Pa.) College. His duties also include teaching and aiding in the supervision of the teacher training program. For the past four years, Danfelt has been director of the band and instructor in band instruments at Hagerstown (Pa.) High School.

1939
DONALD M. PEARSON, associate professor of music at Vassar College, is studying this year at Harvard University on a grant from the Danforth Foundation. The award is given to encourage college teachers to continue their graduate study toward their doctorate. Pearson has been at Vassar since 1946.

1940
ALFIO MICCI is a member of the New York Philharmonic Orchestra, a position he has held for the past six years.

1944
ALFIO PIGNOTTI, a member of the faculty at the University of Texas from 1948 to 1952, has returned to the university following a three year absence. In 1952 he received a Fulbright fellowship for a year's study in Rome and upon his return to the U. S. joined the Claremont (N. J.) String Quartet and appeared in concert in the East and the Midwest.

Leaders of religious activities are Fred Spong, president of Newman Club, Gail Detgen, Student Christian Association, and Dick Leonard, of Hillel.

University Station in Todd Union is Rochester's newest U. S. Postoffice classified station. All regular postal services are provided.
Years, has been appointed acting coordinator of music for the Penfield (N. Y.) Central School District.

* 1937

Alice Foley, principal of Brighton (N. Y.) elementary school since 1943, has been appointed director of instruction by the Brighton board of education. She will be chiefly responsible for elementary education but will also be concerned with special projects in secondary school instruction. She has been a member of the Brighton school system since 1934.

* 1941

J. C. R. Licklider is now a member of the technical staff of the Systems Division, Hughes Research and Development, Culver City, Calif. He had been an associate professor at the Massachusetts Institute of Technology.

* 1942

Merrell L. Sherburn recently was appointed assistant professor in the department of music at Michigan State University. A 1937 graduate of Ohio State University, Sherburn previously had served at North Texas State Teachers College, Ohio Wesleyan University and Mansfield (Ohio) State Teachers College and at the Eastman School.

* 1946

Arthur Schoep was an assistant to Boris Goldovsky in the opera department at Tanglewood during the summer.

* 1947

Gerald A. Smith has been appointed professor of English at Canisius College, Buffalo, N. Y. A 1943 graduate of Notre Dame, Smith has been a member of the faculty of the University of Maryland and is a candidate for a Ph.D. degree at Johns Hopkins University.

* 1949

Alice Van KreveLEN has been appointed associate professor of psychology at Grinnell (Iowa) College.

Dr. Richard L. Warner, Rochester organist and member of the Eastman School faculty, has been named head of the Kent (Ohio) State University School of Music.

* 1950

Dr. Eugene J. Selhorst has been appointed acting director of graduate studies at the Eastman School where he also teaches organ and lectures in musicology.

Mary W. Fisher was married on August 10 to Graham G. Landrum in Indiana, Pa. Their home is in Sherburn, Tex., where they both are members of the faculty at Austin College.

Charles W. Bolen was a member of the faculty at the summer music school at Bozeman, Mont. He is chairman of the music department of Ripon College in Wisconsin.

* 1951

Elizabeth J. Gardner and Joachim La Torre were married in Rochester on July 30.

Dr. Frank C. Pennington has been appointed assistant professor of chemistry at Coe College, Cedar Rapids, Iowa. For the past four years he has been associated with Charles Pfizer and Company.

* 1952

Daniel C. Kingman, an instructor for the past three years at Michigan State University, served as an instructor during the summer at the first summer music school in Bozeman, Mont.

G. J. Jones, a former music teacher at Tuscaloosa (Calif.) High School, is now assistant professor of music at Central Washington College of Education, Ellensburg, Wash.

* 1953

Lawrence V. Rickard received his Ph.D. degree from Cornell University in June and is now serving as assistant professor of geology at St. Lawrence University, Canton, N. Y. Nancy K. Boeing and C. Ross McCormick were married in Rochester on August 6. Their home is in Portland, Ore.

Martha E. Hanes and George Zeigler were married on August 6 in Fort Wayne, Ind. She is teaching this year at Brockport State Teachers College.

Kenneth W. Roberts has been appointed to the faculty of the College of Music of Butler University, Indianapolis, Ind. He is teaching piano, organ and the allied music subjects.

* 1954

Milton FlesH has been appointed assistant to the director of the Division of General and Technical Studies and lecturer in general studies at the University of Buffalo.

Leonard B. Smith, vice principal of Brighton (N. Y.) High School since 1949, assumed the position of school principal on September 1. Smith has been at Brighton since 1940 except for two tours of duty with the Navy.

He is a 1938 graduate of Hartwick College.

Pvt. Glenn R. Williams is stationed in Japan with the Army and is a member of the 56th Army Band at Camp Zama, Japan.

Carol Coogan Pae and her husband, Daniel, are living in Cincinnati, where Pae is a student at the Conservatory-College of Music.

* 1955

Dr. Stewart R. Montgomery is employed in the research division of the Lion Oil Company at El Dorado, Ark. Prior to undertaking his graduate studies at the UR, he was employed as a research chemist at the Allied Chemical and Dye Corporation, Morris-town, Pa.

Martha Bentley is currently teaching and studying music at the Longy School of Music in Cambridge, Mass.

Albert J. Sieg and Irma Spencer were married in Rochester on August 26. Their home is in Baltimore.

Dr. George T. Smith has joined the staff of the American Cyanamid Company's Stamford, Conn., Research Laboratories.

Donald W. Oplenger was recently appointed to the research laboratory of the Du Pont Company in Wilmington, Del.

**Medical School**

* 1946

Dr. Kelly M. Berkey, a resident surgeon at Rochester's Highland Hospital, was married in Baltimore on September 3 to Dr. Mary C. Corner.

Boed field hockey is an unaccustomed sight on the River Campus this fall. Here two players engage in spirited tussle for elusive ball.
Chemical Engineering Chairman Appointed

Formerly professor of chemical engineering at the University of Kansas, Dr. Shelby A. Miller is the new Chairman of the Department of Chemical Engineering in the College of Arts and Science. He began his new duties in September.

Since the death on September 24, 1954, of Dr. Geoffrey Broughton, who had been the department chairman since September, 1952, Dr. Gou-Jen Su, Associate Professor of Chemical Engineering, had been acting chairman. A graduate of the University of Louisville, Ky., in 1935, Dr. Miller had been on the University of Kansas engineering faculty since 1946, beginning as associate professor and rising to full professor in 1950. He was on leave in 1952-53 as Fulbright Professor of Chemical Engineering at King’s College, Durham University, England, and during the past year he was secretary of the Kansas Board of Examining Engineers. From 1940-46 he was a chemical engineer for E. I. Du Pont de Nemours & Co. of Wilmington, Del.

Dr. Miller was an assistant in chemical engineering at the University of Minnesota from 1935-39. He received his Ph.D. degree at Minnesota in 1944, and was a special lecturer in chemical engineering at Columbia University in 1944 and 1945. He was employed summers from 1947 to 1954 as a chemical engineer with Du Pont, Monsanto Chemical and Standard Oil of Indiana. His special fields of chemical engineering, on which he has written a number of papers, are agitator, gas dispersion, and filtration.

Forty-one-year-old Dr. Miller is a member of Sigma Tau, honorary engineering fraternity, Phi Lambda Upsilon, honorary chemistry, Sigma Xi, honorary scientific, the American Institute of Chemical Engineering, American Chemical Society, American Association for the Advancement of Science, and the American Society of Electrical Engineering, the Society of Chemical Industry, and the National Society of Professional Engineers.

Edward G. Miner Dies

Mr. Miner was chairman of the Board of Trustees from 1938 to 1945, had been its secretary for fifteen years, and served on every major committee. His record of forty-three years of active service on the board was one equalled by few college or university trustees in the country. In 1945 the University awarded him an honorary degree of Doctor of Laws "as a great citizen, respected scholar, and one who is an inspiration to all who value the products of mind over the material."

The son of a doctor, Mr. Miner was born in Waverly, Ill., on December 19, 1863. After working as a telegrapher on the Chicago, Burlington & Quincy Railroad, he came to Rochester in 1883 and at the age of nineteen became secretary to Charles C. Puffer, a founder of the firm that later became The Pfaudler Company. The next year he became secretary of the firm, later was elected a vice president, and then general manager, and in 1911 he became president of The Pfaudler Company.
President Anderson statue, moved from old campus during summer, already seems familiar part of its surroundings at River Campus.